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Full Responses to All Material Recovery Facilities RFP Proposer Questions  
 

1. Can you please share the list of attendees to the pre-proposal workshop? Yes, a list of attendees 
has been posted to this document as Exhibit 1: Pre-Proposal Meeting Attendees.  
 

2. Please confirm that the buildable land area is 6.5 acres.  There is a buildable land area of 
approximately 6.5 acres at the landfill under consideration, but no site has been selected at this 
time.  
 

3. Please share any site civil assessment considering setbacks, traffic entrance points, 
topographical surveys, zoning, and stormwater management. This information is not available. 
 

4. Are there any utilities available for use at facility? Proposers should assume that utilities will be 
available for the proposed facilities. 

a. Please provide location of gas and power interconnections 
b. Please confirm volume of on-site water provided  

i. Proposers should assume that sufficient water will be provided.  
What is the current cost of gas and power? Gas and power rates will be determined by location 
of facility and that area’s utility provider. Utility rates may vary depending on the site. Proposers 
should simply state gas, water, and power assumptions in their proposals. For reference, at 
Short Mountain Landfill the kilowatt/ hour rate for electricity at the landfill is .0854. 
 

5. Is it possible to receive cad drawings of the site? The final site has not been selected at this time. 
Please provide facility costs irrespective of site. 
 

6. What is the anticipated traffic flow? The County estimates between 125-150 vehicles per day. 
Proposals should assume that the County will be responsible for all scale house functions and 
costs. 
 

7. What is the total tonnage of MSW hauled to the landfill by private haulers?  I notice that 
Attachment G indicates that 160,976 tons were hauled via commercial haulers, but unclear if 
additional material. The 160,976 is the tonnage the County recorded as hauled by private 
haulers, of that total 117,472 is compacted. 
 

8. Please confirm that the County expects to divert ~60,000 tpy of material from landfill to reach 
63% diversion.  We can confirm that this estimate is in alignment with County diversion 
expectations for additional diversion. 
 

9. Can the County provide tonnages on the following material types? 
a. Residential MSW (pre- and post-recycling) 
b. Multi-Family MSW (pre- and post-recycling) 
c. Commercial Wet (clean SSO and contaminated SSO/MSW) 
d. Commercial Dry  

The County does not track tonnages by those waste streams. Exhibit 2 contains the most 
detailed waste composition data available, which was developed from the Department of 
Environmental Quality’s 2016 waste composition study for Lane County, and contains waste 
composition data for the following waste streams: 
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F16LAN Lane County All Substreams 

F16LAN-ALL 
Lane County All Substreams and single material additions/subtractions - see row 
38 

F16LANRES Lane County Residential Route Trucks 
F16LANCOM Lane County Commercial Route Trucks 
F16LANMIX Lane County Mixed Route Trucks 
F16LANROC Lane County Compacting Drop Boxes 
F16LANROD Lane County Loose Drop Boxes 
F16LANSHR Lane County Self Haul 
F16LANMRF Lane County Mixed Waste Processing Residue 
F16LANSPS Lane County Special Purpose Landfill 

 
 

10. Please confirm that the bidder would be responsible for financing the design, permitting, and 
construction of the facility Proposers should assume that any required financing is the 
proposer’s responsibility, and project expenses accordingly. 
 

11. Please confirm that the bidder would be responsible for paying $84.13/ton of any residual 
material sent to landfill. Proposers are responsible for paying for the disposal of any facility 
residue and should assume a Year 1 cost of $31.51 per ton for any and all residual material sent 
to landfill. 
 

12. Pg. 21, Section 7. On the Contract Sample-Special Contract Provisions, 7.1 Minimum Wage 
Rates. “This Contract is/is not (choose one)”. This contract term was not marked as to which one 
should be used. Does Federal Executive Order 14026 apply? Federal Executive Order 14026 does 
not apply. 
 

13. Page 24, Exhibit B-Standard County Design Services (A/E) Contract Conditions, Section 3.5 
Consultant’s Obligations. Can Lane County allow a security interest to be given? The County is 
open to allowing a security interest to be negotiated with finalist. 
 

14. On pg. 20, Attachment G, gives the monthly tonnage but can you give the annual tonnage of 
each of the three sources; C&D, MSW, and Organics? The County does not track tonnages by 
those waste streams. Exhibit 2 contains the most detailed waste composition data available, 
which was developed from the Department of Environmental Qualities 2016 waste composition 
study for Lane County. 

 
15. Will Lane County Department of Public Works Waste Management Division divert the food 

waste programs from Lane County Forest Products & Rexius to this facility? No, the facility(s) 
should be designed accommodate material streams directed to Short Mountain Landfill only. 
 

16. Will the residential yard waste collection trucks deliver to this site? The focus if this RFP is 
materials that are currently being disposed at Short Mountain Landfill. Proposers should assume 
that materials not currently being delivered to Short Mountain Landfill will not be redirected.  
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17. Who is the C&D Waste processor? And do we have a composition analysis of the material they 
supply? EcoSort and International Paper operate facilities currently sorting construction and 
demolition (C&D) loads. However, the County is only seeking capacity for materials that are 
currently going to Short Mountain Landfill as represented in Appendix G 

 
18. What is the plan for the residential commingled single stream? The County is not requesting 

residential single stream commingled processing as part of this RFP.  
 

19. The contract envisions the work being performed on County property, with construction of a 
new facility.   However, at least some of the County goals may be achieved by enhancing already 
existing privately owned infrastructure, which also could be done at a much lower cost than 
designing and constructing a new facility.  Would the County be open to such an option?  If so 
the contract would require revision/redrafting to potentially shift the liabilities and obligations. 
The County intends to proceed with the RFP process currently in place.  

 
20. The RFP states Lane County currently has a 53.8% diversion rate, although the most recent data 

shows a 55.1% diversion rate for 2019.  Is there a reason why the 2018 diversion numbers are 
used in the RFP?  When does the County anticipate having 2020/2021 numbers?  The County 
intends to keep the 2018 diversion rate as a baseline for this RFP. New 2020/2021 numbers will 
be released in the Fall of 2022. 

 
 

21. Page 8 of the RFP references:  Table 1 - 2016 Statewide Composition Study: Lane County All 
Materials, which shows a total tonnage of 237,805 tons taken in at the Landfill.   On page 19 
(Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage: 2020 Calendar Year), a 297,904 tonnage number is 
referenced.   Were the same inbound tonnage types used in both reports (thereby showing a 
true growth of 60,000 tons)? No. Were there other sources of incoming waste added to the 
Landfill from 2016 to 2020?  Does the County have 2021 incoming tonnage information they can 
provide?   The Waste Composition Study (Table 1) and Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage for 2020 
(Attachment G of RFP) were provided from independent data sets (State, County). The County 
has supplied additional years of Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage reports to assist with 
projections. Please see Exhibit 3 to this document. 
 

22. What are the sources of Table 9 (below) as presented in the Oregon DEQ 2019 Material 
Recovery and Waste Generation Rates Report, and can the County send out a more detailed 
report of these numbers? Each year, the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality compiles 
data on municipal post-consumer waste recovery. DEQ sends a survey to all collection service 
providers and private recycling companies that handle materials for recycling, composting and 
energy recovery. Survey data is combined with data gathered from quarterly and annual 
disposal site reporting forms. The County does not have additional information to share 
pertaining to its use.  
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23. Factoring in the County’s Energy Recovery and other anticipated diverted tonnage, what is the 
County’s best estimate of waste tons needed to be diverted from the Landfill per year to achieve 
the County’s diversion % goal, based on current volume trends? Using 2018 Diversion rate of 
53.8% as a baseline and Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage for 2020 (Attachment G of RFP), an 
estimate of roughly 60,000 additional tons will need to be diverted from Short Mountain Landfill 
to achieve the County’s 63% diversion goal. 
 

24. What is the annual tonnage received at each of the transfer sites (by site), and are there any 
waste composition studies specific to the Glenwood Transfer Site (or any other Lane County 
Transfer Sites) the County can provide?  If not, is there a plan to have a waste composition study 
done at the transfer sites?  The County has provided Transfer Station tonnage for FY 20-21. See 
Exhibit 4 to this document.  The County does not have a waste composition analysis specific to 
Glenwood Transfer Site and has no plans to complete one in the future.  
 

25. Can the County provide a report of the current recycled/diverted tonnages from each transfer 
station by material type and destination? 2020 tonnages from the transfer stations delivered to 
the Short Mountain Landfill is provided in Attachment G of the RFP under the heading 
“Transfer”. Additional Short Mountain tonnage data for 2010 through 2019 has been provided 
(see Exhibit 3) and FY 20/21 tonnage data for the tons delivered from each of the transfer 
stations to the Short Mountain Landfill is provided (see Exhibit 4). Material diverted at the 
transfer stations is not delivered to the Short Mountain Landfill and proposers should assume 
any such diverted transfer station tonnages would not be available for any proposed facility. 
 

26. In Attachment A – Scope of Services Required, Description and Scope of Need Background, the 
RFP states: 

Currently, there are no facilities in Lane County designed to sort and market source separated 
commingled materials. Additionally, there are no dedicated mixed waste processing facilities that 
sort municipal solid waste for material recovery in the County. However, there are two private 
companies, EcoSort and International Paper, that accept residential and commercial commingled 
recyclable materials from the region’s waste haulers; they also operate facilities to sort 
construction and demolition (C&D) loads for recyclable commodity marketing. Materials at these 
operations are consolidated and shipped to sorting facilities located in other jurisdictions.  
 
EcoSort has clarified the above description as follows:  

§ Both EcoSort and International Paper sort commingle materials at some level. 
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§ C & D materials from EcoSort are not “consolidated and shipped to sorting facilities 
located in other jurisdictions.” C & D materials are sorted at EcoSort and sent directly to 
end markets for reuse and recycling.    

Has the County considered the impact to already existing businesses by building a publicly 
funded and potentially redundant facility? The County seeks to develop facilities for the 
purpose of diverting materials that are not currently being captured or processed at existing 
facilities. 

 
27. The RFP states: A major barrier to that goal is inadequate material recovery infrastructure for 

processing loose waste from transfer stations handling the County’s municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

The Lane County Waste Management website states: 

 

When loads show up at the Glenwood Transfer Site or the Short Mountain Landfill containing 
mixed C & D material, what is the communication and process with those customers?  Are they 
notified of the County code requirement to take waste to a Materials Recovery Facility?  Are 
they asked where the material was generated to ensure compliance with Lane Code?  What 
percentages of these loads are currently redirected to a C & D MRF? The County directs loads 
of C&D material received at the Glenwood Transfer Station and Short Mountain Landfill of 6 
cubic yards or more to EcoSort. The County does not track any information related to those 
loads. 
 

28. Per the RFP, the County is requesting a per ton cost for operating a new facility.  How are the 
costs association with building and operating this facility going to be paid for by the County?  
Will the County raise tip fees for haulers and residents as a result?   Is funding from the System 
Benefit Fee going to be used for construction/operation of this facility? Funding for the building 
and operation of a new facility will determined after costs have been determined. 
 

29. If the proposed facility accepts waste from outside of Lane County, would outside waste be 
allowed to be accepted at a lower disposal rate? The County would be willing to consider 
accepting outside tons at a reduced rate but that will need to be determined during overall 
funding considerations.  
 

30. The Lane County Solid Waste Master Plan states: 
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Delta Sand & Gravel company operates a privately-operated construction and demolition 
reclamation landfill that accepts dirt, rock, concrete, asphalt, building demolition, roofing, and 
land clearing debris as backfill for their gravel mine. This landfill received approximately 38,000 
tons of demolition debris in 2017. This landfill may have as much as 50 years of remaining 
capacity, or more, as new landfill capacity is created whenever gravel is removed for sale. 
Has the County attempted to provide, or have any plans to provide, assistance for this location 
to divert backfilled C&D waste being deposited there to a local C&D MRF? No, not at this time. 

 
31. How does the County plan to guarantee a steady volume of materials delivered to a new 

facility?  What tonnages currently can the County guarantee? Lane County does not have flow 
control for the disposal of residential or commercial waste or recycling from the incorporated 
jurisdictions but will be seeking such guarantees. For purposes of this RFP proposers should 
assume that current waste streams and associated tonnages received at the Short Mountain 
Landfill, as reported in RFP Attachment G for 2020 and Exhibit 3 to this document will be 
available for processing at any proposed facilities. 
 

32. Could you please clarify if there has been an increase of 60k tons per year from 2016 to 2020? 
We came up with this difference by comparing the tonnages on Page 8 versus Attachment G. 
The Waste Composition Study (Table 1) and Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage for 2020 
(Attachment G of RFP) were provided from independent data sets (State, County). The County 
has supplied additional years of Short Mountain Landfill Tonnage reports to assist with 
projections. See Exhibit 3 to this document for historical tonnages for 2010 through 2019. 
 

33. Is C&D collected separately? If so, could you please provide annual tons from 2016 to 2021 The 
County directs loads of C&D material received at the Glenwood Transfer Station and Short 
Mountain Landfill of 6 cubic yards or more to EcoSort. Proposers should assume tonnages to 
Short Mountain Landfill as referenced in Attachment G of the RFP and Exhibit 2. 
 

34. Are there any food waste or source separated organics collected separately or is all comingled in 
the MSW stream? If organic material is collected separately, please provide the annual tons 
from 2016 to 2021. Residential and commercial food waste is collected in Eugene and limited 
commercial food waste is collected in Springfield. In 2018 approximately 133,236 tons of food 
waste, yard waste, and wood waste was collected for recovery and sent to local composting 
companies. However this material is not delivered to the County’s transfer stations or landfill 
and is not expected to be available for processing at proposed facilities. 
 

35. Can you provide drawings and surveys of the landfill and specify the location and the available 
acreage where we will be able to build the MRF, C&D and Organic processing facility? No site 
has been finalized for the facilities at this time. Proposers should assume that an appropriate 
site for construction of the proposed facilities will be made available at no cost to the proposers 
and that the site will be structural and not require any site engineering or additional 
modifications prior to construction. 
 

36. Are there any onsite utilities available or will we need to bring utilities? Proposers should 
assume that utilities will be available for the proposed facilities.  
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37. Can we get a breakdown of the tonnage by MSW, C&D and organics, from the past 5 years, to 
make a growth projection? Proposers should assume a 1% growth rate on tonnage in 
Attachment G to the RFP. 
 

38. Are there any County requirements for hiring labor that we should be aware of (prevailing 
wages, etc.)? Please reference this link: 
https://www.oregon.gov/boli/workers/Prevailing%20Wage%20Rate%20Books/july-1-2020-pwr-
rate-book.pdf   
 

39. Is there an odor control plan on the landfill that needs to be followed if we build on the landfill 
property? No site has been finalized for the facilities at this time. Proposers should account for 
industry standard odor control measures and identify those odor control measures in their 
proposals. 
 

40. Is the landfill currently recovering the gas for energy purposes? Short Mountain Landfill employs 
methane capture and has a long-term partnership with Emerald People's Utility District (EPUD) 
to capture landfill gas that create electricity that powers EPUD homes. If so, will the County 
consider using the RNG from the compost to be giving the same use? The County is open to 
using RNG created from a new facility to add onto the current gas system as well as other uses 
that may make sense. 
 

41. Will the landfill be able to accept Alternate Daily Cover (ADC) from the MWS facility operations 
as diverted material? The County would consider this option after analyzing the material being 
proposed as ADC.  If proposers anticipate producing ADC that should be noted along with the 
projected quantities. For purposes of cost projections, proposers should assume a year 1 cost of 
$31.51 per ton for any and all residual material sent to landfill, including any potential ADC 
materials. 
 

42. Can the County clarify whether the scope of work includes accepting medical and hazardous 
waste at the facilities? Or are those handled and processed directly by a third-party contract? 
Proposers should assume that medical and hazardous waste will be handled by a third party.  

 
43. If building in the landfill property, will the contractor need to take care of the stormwater at the 

facility or will be something the County will continue to manage? Proposers should assume that 
the County will be responsible for any required stormwater management associated with the 
proposed facilities.  
 

44. Are we going to be able to utilize the scales that are currently on the landfill? Proposers should 
assume that scales will be provided for the proposed facilities, and that the County will be 
responsible for all scale house functions and associated costs.  
 

45. Can the county clarify how the fixed equipment and civil works are going to be financed? We 
assume that the contractor will have to include the interest expenses withing the “Fixed 
Equipment Cost per Year” in Attachment F Proposal Form. Proposers should assume that any 
required financing is the proposer’s responsibility, and project expenses accordingly.  
 

46. Is the County tax exempt for sales tax purposes? 
Yes. 
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47. Is the County going to provide a specific site inside of the landfill for the MSW, C&D and 

compost facility?  
The County has not selected a site location, Proposers should assume that an appropriate site 
for construction of the proposed facilities will be made available at no cost to the proposers. 
Proposers should assume that the site will be structural and not require any additional site 
engineering or additional modifications prior to construction. 
 

48. What is the construction surface?  Is it structural, or would it require pilings before pouring 
concrete? 
The County has not selected a site location, proposers should assume that the site will be 
structural and not require any additional site engineering or additional modifications prior to 
construction. 
 

49. Is there a volatile organic compound emissions threshold we need to remain under? If so, how 
many tons/year? 
 No maximum VOC threshold has been established at this time, but proposers should seek to 
reduce all VOC emissions in accordance with established best practices. 

 
50. For the organic material (wood, yard waste, food waste), is lab data available? Specifically, 

typical values for: moisture%, C/N ratio, density? 
No lab data for this is available.  

 
51. Which material categories will be processed (i.e., transfer, post MRF, Rubble, other)? 

Proposers can propose to process any or all waste streams, and present processing scenario(s) 
that they determine would best support the County’s goal of a 63% landfill waste diversion rate. 
 

52. What are the material compositions of each material stream that will be processed? 
Exhibit 2 to this documents contains the most detailed waste composition data available, which 
was developed from the Department of Environmental Qualities 2016 waste composition study 
for Lane County. 
 

53. What are the desired output materials/commodities? 
Please refer to answer for Question 51 above. 

 
54. Are there specified hours of operations for the MRF’s? 

No not at this time.  
 

55. What is the source of the organic materials? 
Sources of organic materials in the Lane County waste stream vary. Exhibit 2 to this document 
contains the most detailed waste composition data available, which was developed from the 
Department of Environmental Qualities 2016 waste composition study for Lane County. 

 
56. What is the disposal tip fee today, ($84.13 per ton) and are there contracted increases 

scheduled in coming years? 
Please refer to the County’s waste management website: 
https://lanecounty.org/cms/One.aspx?portalId=3585881&pageId=15739579 
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57. The RFP considers possible processing operations for MSW, C&D and organics. Can the County 
provide information that outlines the volumes of these different streams? 

o For example, while the tonnage in the RFP and Attachment G demonstrates tonnage 
types in different ways, it is difficult to understand how much commingled C&D material 
might be delivered to the site for C&D processing.  Similarly, it is difficult to ascertain if 
there are relatively clean loads of organics delivered to the landfill that might be 
processed separately from the general MSW.  No source separated materials are 
currently going to Short Mountain Landfill, and proposers should assume that no source 
separated materials will be available. Exhibit 2 to this document contains the most 
detailed waste composition data available, which was developed from the Department 
of Environmental Qualities 2016 waste composition study for Lane County. 
 

o It seems from the data that the target MSW processing volume would include the 
“Transfer” and “Other” tons listed in Attachment G – totaling approximately 242,861 
tons in 2020. That is correct. Please confirm that this is a reasonable expectation, or if 
there are tons within those two categories that might be handled differently (e.g., C&D 
or Organics). Exhibit 2 to this document contains the most detailed waste composition 
data available, which was developed from the Department of Environmental Qualities 
2016 waste composition study for Lane County.  

 
58. MSW and C&D processing operations often generate “fines” that are difficult to market. Will the 

landfill be open to accepting fines from the processing operations to use as Alternative Daily 
Cover, and at a reduced tipping fee?   

If yes, can the County provide a scope or specification as to what would be acceptable 
to use as fines? The county is open to considering this based on the nature of the 
“fines.” However, for the purposes of this RFP, Proposers should assume a year 1 cost of 
$31.51 per ton for any and all residual material sent to landfill including fines. 
 

59. Has the County done any research into available end markets for various commodities 
generated from any of the potential processing operations contemplated in the RFP? Examples 
might include wood waste or gypsum from C&D processing, or compostable paper and 
compostable fines outlets from MSW processing. If yes, any additional information that can be 
provided would be very helpful. The County does not have additional research available relating 
to commodity end markets beyond what is publicly available. 
 

60. Are there any site plans or potential building construction plans that have been considered at 
the landfill site for processing operations? Alternately, are there areas on the site that have 
been identified as potential site locations, and are there any size or other restrictions on the 
amount of space that can be used (inclusive of traffic/ingress-egress concerns) 
The County has not selected a site location. Proposers should assume that an appropriate site 
for construction of the proposed facilities will be made available at no cost to the proposers. 
Proposers should assume that the site will be structural and not require any additional site 
engineering or additional modifications prior to construction. 
 

61. On page 9 it states the County wishes to select a firm to perform Phase 1 Services to prepare 
conceptual plans for facilities and processing systems that can recover materials from three (3) 
waste streams; C& D Debris; Organics (includes composting and AD); and mixed waste 
processing. In the second paragraph it states “Based on the County’s review of proposals 
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(assuming it refers to Proposals and results from Phase 1) it may select one or more Proposers 
to participate in Phase 2 of the procurement process that will involve the development of 
detailed facility design and cost projections. The County is interested in receiving conceptual 
Phase 1 proposals for the types of waste streams listed. 
 
Please clarify: In Phase 1, is the County asking for a conceptual plan and a feasibility study for 
deciding to select a firm to design, build and operate a MRF to process one or all of the waste 
streams listed?  
 
Or, as the County also states on page 9 “the County is requesting cost proposals for 15 – and 25- 
contract terms assuming it is selecting a firm(s) to design build and operate the MRF(s). 
The County is seeking conceptual Phase 1 proposals from firms seeking to design, build, and 
operate any or all of the processing facilities listed. The County is not seeking a feasibility study. 
 

62. Attachment B - Required Elements of Proposals, Item 2 Required Response Criteria states 
proposals to “Describe what in particular makes your company well suited to design and operate 
recovery facilities in Lane County.” 

 
Based on these statements it appears the County intends to use the RFP to select a vendor(s) to 
plan, design build, and operate a new MRF to process as a result?  This is correct. The County 
intends to use this RFP to shortlist vendors for Phase 2. This will lead to the selection of a vendor 
to design, build operate a facility. 
 
Depending on the response, firms that plan and design MRFs must team up with an operator to 
respond to Phase 1. Yes.  

 
Exhibits: 
 

1 Pre-Proposal Meeting Attendees 
2 Year 1 Waste Composition and Tonnages by Waste Stream 
3 Lane County Short Mountain Landfill Historical Tonnages 2010 - 2019 
4 Lane County Transfer Station Tonnages FY 2020/2021 

 
 
 
*Please Note Additional Items: 
 
County has also released addendums 1,2,3 & 4 


